
 
 

SCRUTINY : NEIGHBOURHOOD 
SERVICES, PLANNING AND 

COUNTRYSIDE 
 

2.30 pm MONDAY, 18TH JANUARY, 2021 
 

REMOTE MEETING - MICROSOFT TEAMS 
 

A Pre-Meeting will take place prior to this meeting and a separate 
invitation will be sent from Scrutiny Support Officers to Committee 

Members only  

 
 

Please note that today’s meeting will be recorded.  
  

This recording may be broadcast on the Authority’s internet 
 

All attendees will be in view of the camera and, by attending you are consenting to 
being filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound recordings being used 

as outlined above. 

 

 
This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on 

(01685) 725284 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk. 
 

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda 
can be found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers. 

 

AGENDA 
 

1. Apologies for absence   

2. Declarations of Interest (including whipping 
declarations)  

 

 Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 

 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct 
 
Note: 
 

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and 

 
(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 

as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave 

 

3. Environmental Enforcement across the County 
Borough  

 

 To consider the attached report 
 

5 - 10 

4. Overview of Property Services   

 To consider the attached report 
 

11 - 16 

5. Dog Fouling Public Spaces Protection Order   

 To consider the attached report 
 

17 - 22 

6. Fly-tipping on Unregistered Land   

 To consider the attached report 
 

23 - 26 

7. Forward Work Programme 2020/21   

 To consider the attached report 
 

27 - 38 

8. Scrutiny Referrals, Feedback and Follow up 
Actions  

 

9. Reflection and Evaluation of Meeting   

 To receive an update from the Chair. 
 

 

10. Any other business deemed urgent by the Chair  
 
 
 
 

 



  
COMPOSITION: Councillors:   D Sammon (Chair) 

                      D Jones (Vice-Chair) 
  
 Councillors:   M Colbran, J Davies, L Davies and 

C T Jones 
 
Co-optees: R Holdaway, J McCarthy, P Star and 
T Butler 

  
together with appropriate officers 
 

 
If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 

democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284 

 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

 

Environmental Enforcement across the County 
Borough 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 An information report to update committee members on the current position of the 

Environmental Cleansing and Enforcement Team in regards to enforcement.  
 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
2.1 That the scrutiny committee notes the content of this report. 
 
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 Fly tipping is a Corporate Priority and has been high on the agenda since February 

2016. Fly tipping is not unique to Merthyr Tydfil; it is a national problem and fly 
tipping incidents are increasing. According to Keep Britain Tidy 2016/17 Local 
Authorities in the UK recorded in excess of one million incidents of fly tipping costing 
over £50 million of tax payer’s money to clear off Council owned land. 

 
 

4.0 WHERE WE WERE  
 
4.1 In Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council in 2012/13, outcomes were adequate for 

fly tipping as the performance scores for fly tipping clearance were slightly better 
than the all Wales average, as shown in the table below. 

Date Written 6th January 2021 

Report Author Paul Jones, Jemma Price  

Service Area Neighbourhood Services 

Committee Date 18th January 2021 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



 

 
Key Indicators 

March 2013 
Merthyr Tydfil 

March 2013 
Wales 

Fly tipping incidents cleared within 5 working days 92.3 % 92.2 % 

 
4.2 The Fly-tipping functionality formed a part of the Waste Services Department in 

2012/13 and resources included two members of staff (3.5 days per week) and the 
use of one vehicle (this also included all receptacle deliveries, private works).  

 
4.3 All fly-tipping evidence was gathered by Waste Services and passed to 

Environmental Health Department for further action. All prosecutions were 
undertaken by Environmental Health. 

4.4 Fly tipping is not unique to Merthyr Tydfil; it is a national problem and fly tipping 
incidents are increasing. Tackling fly tipping within Merthyr Tydfil has been high on 
the agenda over the last four years and links into the corporate priority ‘A 
Sustainable Environment’.   

 
4.5 Local Authorities (LA’s) are responsible for clearing fly tipping on public land. LA’s 

may also investigate incidents on private or unregistered land but there is no 
obligation to clear the waste. 
 

4.6 Natural Resources Wales (NRW) is responsible for dealing with large scale illegal 
dumping, including incidents involving organised crime and certain hazardous 
wastes. NRW will only clear up such waste where there is an immediate risk to the 
environment or human health. 
 

4.7 The percentage of waste cleared off Council owned land in Merthyr Tydfil compared 
to All Wales from 2013/14 to 2017/18 is shown in Table 2: 
 

Table 2: Percentage of fly tipping incidents cleared off Council owned land within 5 days 
from 2013/14 to 2017/18: 
 

Key Indicators 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

% Fly tipping incidents cleared 
within 5 working days (Council 
Land) in Merthyr Tydfil 

96 92 95 100 100 

% Fly tipping incidents cleared 
within 5 working days (Council 
Land) in Wales 

95 93 95 95 95 

 
 

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW  
 

Fly tipping Complaints 
 

5.1 In April 2018, the performance indicator for fly tipping clearance changed from the 
percentage of incidents cleared from council owned land within 5 working days to the 
average number of days taken to clear fly tipped waste from council owned land.  

Table 1: Percentage of fly tipping incidents cleared within 5 working days in 2012/13 

Page 6



 
5.2 In Quarter 1 of this year (2020/2021), there were 599 reported incidents of fly tipping 

on all land types. The average number of days taken to remove fly tipped waste off 
council owned land was 1.67 days. 
 

5.3 For the same period in 2019/2020, we received 461 reports of fly tipping on all land 
types. The average number of days taken to remove waste off council land was 1.17 
days 

 
5.4 In Quarter 2 of this year (2020/2021), the reported incidents fell to 557 and the 

average number of days taken to clear fly tipped waste off council owned land was 
1.83 days. 
 

5.5 For the same period in 2019/2020, we received 440 reports, the average time to 
remove waste off council owned land was 1.27 days. 
 

5.6 The average number of days taken to clear waste in quarter 1 and 2 this year 
(2020/2021) was 1.75 days, compared to 1.22 days for the same period last year 
(2019/2020). 
 

5.7 In Quarter 3 of this year (2020/2021), the reported incidents fell again to 357 and the 
average number of days taken to remove waste off council owned land was 2.77 
days. 
 

5.8 For the same period in 2019/2020, we received 451 reports. The average number of 
days taken to clear waste off council owned land was 2.79 days. 
 

5.9 The average number of days taken to clear waste off council owned land for quarter 
1, 2 and 3 this year (2020/2021) was 1.98 days compared to 1.76 days for the same 
period last year (2019/2020). 
 

5.10 Although quarter 3 this year (2020/2021) saw a decrease in complaints compared to 
the same period 2019/20, the overall number of reported incidents has increased for 
the first 3 quarters compared to last year. In total for quarters 1, 2 and 3 in 
2020/2021 we have received 1513 compared to 1352 for quarter 1, 2 and 3 in 
2019/2020. 
 

5.11 The Christmas period did not increase the volume of reported incidents. For the 
week before Christmas, 19th to 25th December, we received 19 reports and for the 
week after Christmas, 26th to 1st January we received 17 reports. As with previous 
years, we tend to see an increase in January with reported incidents. We have 
received 37 reports since 1st January 2021 to 7th January 2021. 
 

5.12 Due to the Covid-19 pandemic, we have had staff off shielding, meaning we were 
down to one man and a van. As well as this, we have had staff holidays, which we 
were unable to cover. Due to these reasons, we were expecting a rise in the average 
number of days taken to remove waste off council owned land.  
 

5.13 Given that we are in another lockdown where vulnerable people have been asked to 
shield again, we are expecting that clearances will take longer until we are back up 
to a full team. 

 

Page 7



 

Private Land 
 

5.14 Although previously the Environmental Cleansing and Enforcement Team did not 
take action on private land, this was changed last year by instruction from the Chief 
Officer. As before, the Team investigate all instances of fly tipping, however we now 
also write to private landowners, where possible, requesting that waste is removed 
from their land.  
 

5.15 If the landowner fails to respond to the request, the Team may be able to take further 
action; however, each case must be taken on its own merit and careful consideration 
given. 

 
Unregistered Land 
 

5.16 The Local Authority are starting a project with Probation in February where we will try 
to clear fly tipped waste from any land that has been reported to us and is 
unregistered.  
 

5.17 It is estimated that the works will take around 8 weeks to complete. Probation will 
also assist in clearing foliage from any signage as well as putting out new signage in 
problematic areas. 
 

5.18 Once these works are completed, a report will go to Cabinet in order to decide how 
we should proceed in the future when dealing with fly tipped waste on unregistered 
land. 

 
 

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE  
 
6.1 We would like to significantly reduce the instances of fly tipping within the County 

Borough. In order to achieve this we would like to remove and investigate all 
instances of fly tipping on Council owned land within a timely manner. Where 
necessary we also aim to prosecute to help reduce the incidents of fly tipping.  
 

6.2 We would like to address all unregistered land complaints that we have received and 
in turn, remove the fly tipped waste with the assistance of probation. 
 

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT  
 
7.1 Prioritise hot spot areas and continue to send letter drops to problematic areas 

advising of the issues in the area and ask for information. 

7.2 Look at restricting access to hotspot areas. 

7.3 Continue to distribute and deploy dummy cameras. 

7.4 Continue to liaise with and work closely with South Wales Police. 
 

 
 
 

Page 8



8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 

8.1 Environmental enforcement contributes to the Council’s environmental wellbeing 
objective; communities protect, enhance and promote our environment and 
countryside. 

 

 
 
 
JUDITH JONES CHIEF OFFICER 
PLANNING & NEIGHBOURHOOD 
SERVICES 

COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES  
CABINET MEMBER FOR PLANNING & 

NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
 
 
 

  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

 

OVERVIEW OF PROPERTY SERVICES 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 This information report gives an overview of the Property Services Department 

identifying a programme plan and areas for development and improvement. 
 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
2.1  That the contents of this report be noted. 
 
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 Scrutiny Committee have requested a report to be presented to give them a clear 

understanding of the Property Services department and have requested that the 
report also includes a detailed programme plan of the service which identifies the key 
areas for development and improvement for 2020/21. 

 

4.0 OVERVIEW OF THE SERVICE 

 
4.1 The Councils vision is that the property portfolio is aligned to corporate priorities and 

service requirements, where appropriate investment is made in capital projects and 
where the portfolio is efficiently maintained, is fit for purpose and meets health and 
safety requirements. This is set out in the Corporate Asset Management Plan and 
Property Services recognise that better buildings can help enhance performance and 

Date Written 7th January 2021 

Report Author Chris Jones  

Service Area Neighbourhood Services 

Committee Date 18th January 2021 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



improve staff motivation. Property Services provides several functions, which are 
targeted at improving all Council Buildings and ensuring that all statutory regulations 
are compiled with. 
 

4.2 Property Services currently have Service Level Agreements with Schools and 
Leisure Services to provide support and assistance with the management of their 
building assets and also provide a corporate service to all service areas.  
 

4.3 A programme plan has been provided at Appendix A of this report. 
 

4.4 To achieve this Property Services carry out a number of Key Service Elements which 
include: 

 

4.4.1 Responsive Repairs 
 

Responsive repairs service is the reaction to failures of building elements 
whilst the building is in use.  Property Services tendered a responsive repairs 
contract jointly with RCTCBC in line with Public Procurement and Financial 
Regulations which provides an effective, value for money service. The 
contract uses the National Schedule of Rates for repairs which give 
transparency to the costs charged for repairs and can be viewed at Property 
Services if required.  Property Services also operates a responsive repairs 
helpdesk, which will accept calls during normal working hours with Lifeline 
providing the out of hours service. 

 
Property Services operates two main contracts for repairs, one for heating 
repairs, which includes boilers, radiators and leaks from heating systems.  The 
second contract is for building repairs and covers all emergency repairs to 
buildings, this contract is used for emergency response repairs as well as 
normal repairs and small planned work requests. Both of these contracts 
operate a 24 hour call out service. 

 
4.4.2 Statutory Regulations 

 
All buildings have an element of statutory maintenance, which the Council 
have a legal requirement to comply with.  Property Services has a Statutory 
Compliance team, which tenders individual contracts for these functions such 
as Legionella, Asbestos, Lifts & Lifting Equipment, Gas & Boiler and Electrical 
servicing to ensure that these elements are maintained to the correct 
standards.    

 
The team also carries out compliance audits to check and monitor that all 
buildings are compliant and up to date with current regulations. Property 
Services are also available to provide advice on any compliance issues which 
may arise, along with changes and updates to legislation.   

 
 
 
 

4.4.3 Planned Maintenance /Capital Works 
 

Planned maintenance and improvement of buildings is proactive rather than 

Page 12



reactive. It provides for the renewal of building elements before they actually 
fail preventing costs through consequential damage. 

 
Property Services are responsible for the delivery of many of the Authorities 
major Capital projects such as The Waste Recycling Depot and Re-Use shop 
at Unit 20, the 21st Century schools programme and many of the smaller 
school improvement works undertaken during the summer break. 

 
Property Services base the delivery of planned maintenance construction 
projects upon the RIBA (Royal Institute of British Architects) Plan of Work and 
carry out the following roles in relation to building projects: 

 
  Client Advisor 
  Project lead 
  Project manager 
  Design Lead 
  Construction lead 
  Architectural Design 
  Landscape Design 
  Structural design 
  Building Service Design 
  Cost Consultancy 
  Contract Administration 
  Information Manager 
  Health & Safety Consultant 
 

Additionally, on request, Property Services will provide technical and 
contractual advice on all property related matters.  

 

4.4.4 Energy Unit Roles and Responsibilities 
 

Strategic 

 Develop Energy Strategy/Carbon Management Plans to assist council in 

working towards Carbon Neutrality by 2030. 

 Reply to FOI relating to Energy and carbon emissions in buildings. 

 Ensure statutory compliance relating to Display Energy Certificates. 

 Welsh Government / Internal KPI reporting relating to carbon emissions 

and energy Use. 

 Develop Business Cases for energy investments. 

 Provide specialist support and guidance relating to carbon emissions and 

energy use. 

 To provide by training, user motivation and participation in the field of 

energy and carbon savings by good housekeeping methods. 

 Lead on energy procurement-Contract Management and liaising with 

National Procurement Service. 

 Manage TREND Building Management Systems in MTCBC sites. 

 Input of Holiday settings on sites installed with TREND to ensure 

energy usage and carbon emissions are kept to a minimum when 

buildings are unoccupied. 

Page 13



 Utilising Systemslink Energy Management Software, identifying 

avoidable waste and take actions to reduce levels of energy usage and 

costs. 

 Build and maintain relationships with external partners and other local 

authorities to share best practice and investigate possible partnerships 

and/or collaborations on energy and sustainability issues. 

 Energy audits of council buildings and creation of actions plans to 

reduce energy usage. 

 Manage external consultants and contractors as required in delivery of 

carbon efficiency projects. 

 Keep abreast of current developments in Energy Efficiency. 

 Identification of schemes and potential upgrades to improve Energy 

Efficiency within MTCBC. 

 New Builds projects provide design advice relating to 

mechanical/electrical systems and building fabric to ensure new 

buildings are considering carbon neutral design and energy efficiency. 

 Monthly monitoring and targeting of Energy Consumption and costs to 

identify excess consumption and minimise overspend and carbon 

emissions 

 

Metering/Technical 

 Actively increasing the number of smart and HH meters on MTCBC 

Elec, gas, water supplies. 

 Set up new metering supplies (e.g. new school - Service lead 

supported by energy). 

 Investigate, deal, and process Energy and Water invoice queries. 

 Review performance of metering (run reports, investigate queries, 

anomalies) to ensure meters are functioning correctly.(250 meters) 

 Deal with meter breakdowns/data logger faults. 

 Carry out Monthly bill validation of gas and electricity invoices to 

ensure accuracy of billing and reduction in overspend (Approximately 

7000 invoices per annum). 

 Complete, change of tenancy forms, process and finalise/ close 

accounts. 

 Escalating supplier issues from clients to National Procurement 

Service. 

 Updating Display Energy Certificate Tracker. 

 Obtain meter reads and process feed in tariff payments for Solar 

Installations. 

 Completion of site addition forms for transferring of energy supplies 

onto National Procurement Service. 

 Updating Systemslink Energy Management-Input of Energy 

Invoices/Meter Reads/Meter details. 

 

5.0 WHERE WE WERE  

 
Page 14



5.1 Due to budget pressure and efficiency savings the Department has been 
understaffed for many years and have relied heavily on the assistance of Blaenau 
Gwent CBC for key major projects. 

   
5.2 The team have struggled to hold onto key staff and have lost four technical posts in 

the last few years. 
 
5.3 A lack of IT software has meant the department has been unable to work as 

efficiently or effectively as possible. 
 

5.4 The lack of condition surveys on the Authority’s portfolio meant we were unable to 
prioritise planned maintenance projects. 

 
 

6.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW  
 
6.1 Despite the pandemic we have maintained service operations and have kept our 

building compliant while still managing to deliver projects.  
 

6.2 Although unable to recruit a Project Manager Team Leader we have been able to 
recruit two new project managers through agency services to assist with delivery of 
the Capital Programme. 
 

6.3 The department still remain short staffed, but a recent capacity exercise identified the 
lack of IT software and staff shortage. This has meant we are now able to recruit a 
New Mechanical Compliance officer as well as purchase new IT software. 
 

6.4 The purchase of the new RAMIS (Risk Monitor) IT system now enables all 
compliance and statutory inspections to be handled efficiently on one piece of 
software.  
 

6.5 The Department are looking to put a programme in place to undertake condition 
surveys of the Authority’s building portfolio, which will feed into a maintenance 
strategy and programme. This is subject to obtaining appropriate budgets. 

   
6.6 Property Services have been ranked 16/16 with an overall judgement of good for the 

last two years in the schools SLA review. The Department have set it as an objective 
to improve this position next year. 
 

 

7.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE  
 
7.1 The Department are keen to improve the service it provides to its clients and want to 

move up the rankings on the Schools SLA. 
 

7.2 The Department want to provide a quality value for money service to its clients, 
understanding the need to constantly strive for improvement on the service provided.  
 

7.3 Reduce carbon emissions in all Council Buildings working towards a carbon neutral 
Merthyr Tydfil. 
 

Page 15



7.4 Ensure Council Buildings remain fit for occupation and provide healthy environments 
for working, teaching and learning. 
 

7.5 Provide the effective delivery of the 21st Century Schools programme that will deliver 
new school buildings that are completed to time, costs and importantly provide 21st 
century learning and teaching environments for our young people.  

  
 

8.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT  
 
8.1 Complete the recruitment of a new mechanical compliance officer this will give the 

compliance team additional capacity to keep on top of the current workload.  
 

8.2 Purchase additional (National Building Services) NBS IT software to assist with the 
delivery and contract management of Capital Projects. With such a large capital 
programme this piece of software is essential in assisting the project managers with 
their current workloads.   
 

8.3 Start work on the Refit programme which is targeted to reduce in the carbon 
emissions of the Authority’s building portfolio and help with the Welsh Governments 
2030 carbon neutral target. 

 
 

9.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 

9.1 Property Services directly inputs into the Wellbeing Objectives with the reduction of 
carbon emissions, it also supports education of our young people with the 
maintenance and upgrade of school buildings.    

 
 

 
JUDITH JONES CHIEF OFFICERS FOR 
PLANNING AND NEIGHBOURHOOD 
SERVICES 
 

CLLR DAVID HUGHES PORTFOLLIO 
MEMBER FOR PLANNING AND 
NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES 

 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
 
 
 

  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

 

 

Page 16



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 

 
 
To:   Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

Dog Fouling Public Spaces Protection Order 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 To outline the proposal to introduce a borough wide Dog Fouling Public Spaces 

Protection Order (PSPO) The purpose of the order is to improve measures across 
the County Borough to combat dog fouling in public spaces. 

 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
2.1 That the scrutiny committee notes the contents of the report. 
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND  
 
3.1 In England and Wales, local authorities may introduce PSPOs, making it an offence 

not to clean up dog mess in areas covered by a PSPO. Under such orders, a person 
who fails to clean up after their dog has defecated may face a Fixed Penalty of up to 
£100. Breach of the PSPO also allows the Council to prosecute an offender at the 
Magistrates Court for the dog fouling offence where a person found guilty could be 
fined up to £1,000. PSPOs run for a period of three years but if evidence exists of a 
continuing problem they may be extended for longer periods. 
 

3.2 The system of controlling dog fouling under PSPOs was introduced by the Anti-
Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014. It replaced the old system of dog 
control orders under the Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005, which in 
turn replaced the previous dog fouling legislation namely the Dogs Fouling of Land 
Act 1996. 
 

Date Written 7th January 2021 

Report Author Simon Jones 

Service Area Legal & Democratic  

Committee Date 18th January 2021 

Page 17

Agenda Item 5



3.3 The Council currently has no specific dog fouling orders in place and as such dog 
fouling in the County Borough is to the greater extent unregulated.  
 

3.4 PSPOs can be made where the Council is satisfied on reasonable grounds that the 
activities which are the subject of the PSPO (dog fouling) are carried out, or likely to 
be carried out, in a public place. A PSPO is designed to deal with a particular 
nuisance or problem in an area. The behaviour must also be having a detrimental 
effect on the quality of life of those in the community, it must be persistent or 
continuing and it must be unreasonable. 
 

3.5 PSPOs are designed to ensure that the law-abiding majority can enjoy public 
spaces, safe from anti-social behaviour. Dog fouling is both unpleasant and a danger 
to health, and the Council is committed to tackling it in all public places across the 
County Borough. While the majority of dog owners behave responsibly and pick up 
after their dogs, there remains a minority of dog owners who do not and it is these 
people who the Council aims to target through enforcement and awareness 
initiatives. 

  
3.6 Controls can only be imposed where there is evidence of a specific problem. They 

cannot be imposed simply on a precautionary basis However the Council receives 
many complaints each year about dog fouling in public places. In the two years up to 
June 2020 the Council had 188 incidents of dog fouling logged on its Tascomi 
system. With the reports of dog fouling covering all 11 Council Wards. To 
demonstrate that this is a continuing persistent problem in the 6 months preceding 
June 2020 there were 58 reported incidents of dog fouling in the County Borough. 
Anecdotal evidence would however suggest that the majority of dog fouling instances 
go unreported. 

 
 

4.0 CURRENT POSITION REGARDING IMPLEMENTATION 
 
4.1 Before making a PSPO, the council must consult with the Police, the Police and 

Crime Commissioner, Community Councils, and community representatives they 
think appropriate. The council has also engaged in an open and public consultation 
giving users of the public spaces the opportunity to comment on whether the 
proposed restriction or restrictions are appropriate, proportionate or needed at all. 
The council also ensured that specific groups likely to have a particular interest were 
consulted e.g. the Dogs Trust, Kennel Club. 

 
4.2  A public consultation exercise was undertaken using the Council’s consultation hub. 

The consultation exercise was also widely publicised through social media and on 
the council’s website. There was a significant response from the public with over 800 
responses received. the conclusion of the consultation period, responses will be 
considered, and a further report put to Cabinet to consider whether or not to impose 
a PSPO. This final report will address detailed issues such as the practical 
arrangement of implementation and enforcement. 

 
 
 
 

Page 18



4.3  The proposed Dog Fouling Public Spaces Protection Order that was put out for 
consultation included the following restrictions: 

 

a. It will be County Borough Wide (any place to which the public or any section of the 
public has access, on payment or otherwise, as of right or by virtue of express or 
implied permission); 

b. Persons in charge of a dog must have with them appropriate means to pick up dog 
faeces deposited by that dog; and 

c. Persons in charge of a dog must remove the faeces and for it to be disposed of in an 
appropriate receptacle. 

 

5.0 RESPONSES TO CONSULTATION 
 
5.1  Responses to the consultation came from the whole County Borough. There were 

817 responses broken down into the following areas 
 

Merthyr Vale 10 Aberfan 30 Heolgerrig 28 

Merthyr Tydfil 270 Edwardsville 20 Outside County Borough 4 

Bedlinog 39 Dowlais 21 Pentrebach 13 

Treharris 76 Pant 18 Llwyn on 1 

Quakers Yard 77 Pontsticill 3 Thomastown 2 

Trelewis 33 Penydarren 22 Gellideg 4 

Troedyrhiw 37 Trefechan 8 Georgetown 3 

Swansea Rd 3 Beacon Heights 2 Cefn Coed 12 

Abercanaid 28 Gurnos 5 Town 1 

Penywern 2 Cyfarthfa 4 Bradley Gardens 2 

Ynysfach  5 Castle Park 8 Park Ward 2 

Mardy  2 Twynyrodyn 12 Winchfawr 1 

Quar 7 Tudor Terrace 1 Caepantywyll 1 

 
 
5.2 Out of those responses 96% felt that dog fouling had had a detrimental effect on 

their community and the people around them, whilst 73% said it had a direct impact 
on their day-to-day life. 

 
5.3 There were 604 comments received from the responders detailing the problems they 

had experienced with dog fouling and these include the following – 
 

 There’s dog mess everywhere  Enforcement needed 

 If trod on you bring it into your house  More cameras needed 

 It spoils my walks  Law abiding dog owners are tarred 
with the same brush as irresponsible 
ones 

 I am worried for my children’s health  The problem is getting worse 

 It smells  Bags of dog poo are left in bushes 
and trees 

 Pavements and grassed areas are 
equally bad 

 It gets into pram, wheelchair and bike 
wheels and onto Zimmers 

 People use back lanes as dog toilets 
and do not clean up after the dog 

 I walk on roads to avoid pavements 

Page 19



 It causes diseases  Sports pitches are used as dog toilets 

 More dog bins needed  It is a source of community tension 

 Taff trail, Cyfarthfa Park are 
particularly bad 

 I have inadvertently walked it into my 
car 

 A simple walk becomes an obstacle 
course 

 It is worse for those who are visually 
impaired 

 I moved to a new house because of it  It’s a major health risk 

 I feel it is better for my well-being 
walking in a clean environment 

 Dogs often rub themselves in it 

 It is difficult for deaf child to be 
warned 

 We want this town to be tidy and 
clean for visitors  

 I am constantly having to dodge it 
when out for a walk 

 My 4-year-old child is unable to play 
outside house because of it 

 It makes me ashamed of my local 
area 

 It is difficult for parent of child with 
autism 

 I would be happy to volunteer as a 
warden 

 It attracts flies and rats and spreads 
diseases. 

 
5.4 Of the 817 people who responded to the consultation 11% felt there should be 

exemptions to the PSPO or that there should be instances where dog fouling should 
be tolerated. The responses included the following suggested exemptions -  

 

 Guide dogs for the blind  Where the owner uses the “stick & 
flick” 

 The elderly or infirm who cannot pick 
up the dog mess 

 There should be dedicated dog 
fouling areas. 

 Blind people  Where the dog has an upset 
stomach, and the dog waste cannot 
be picked up. 

 Defecation that occurs off path or 
road 

 Where a child is in charge of a dog 

 Defecation that occurs in woodland  Where there are no bins or where 
they are full 

 Service dogs  When someone intends to return to 
the defecation with a bag 

 People with dementia, learning 
difficulties and young people under 
10 years old 

 When dog bags are forgotten 

 
 
5.5 93% of those who responded stated that they had witnessed the effects of dog 

fouling in their community and the same percentage stated that they felt dog fouling 
was an ongoing problem. 

 
5.6  There were also 415 other comments made and these included the following – 
 

More dog bins needed and regularly emptied Discarded dog faeces in bags is worse than 
faeces on the ground 

Hotspot regular checks Use CCTV to prosecute 

Who is going to enforce this? Signage needed Edwardsville 

Page 20



 
Dogs need to be properly supervised and not 
let out alone 

Enforce against those who fail to dispose of 
dog bags 

Concentrate on matters where enforcement 
will be effective – parking on pavements 

Cats defecating is also a problem 

Horse manure is a bigger problem Continued breach should result in removal of 
the dog 

Enforcement officers should be allowed to do 
spot checks on whether dog walkers have 
bags 

No warnings should be issued 
Harsher penalties for dog owners whose 
dogs foul on sports pitches 

There should be warnings in some instances Education is important as well 

Enforcement will be ineffective There should be no exemptions 

DNA testing should be done to stop false 
allegations 

It should be a condition that all dog owners 
have a dog bag with them when out with a 
dog 

Bring back the dog licence -revoke if found 
guilty of dog fouling 

A dog warden is needed 

£100 fine is too low Tax dog owners to pay for the costs of clean 
up 

 
 

6 NEXT STEPS 
 
6.1 The next steps requiring to be undertaken are as follows: 
 
(a) Finalise the review of the consultation responses 

(b) Draft the proposed PSPO. 

(c) Report to Cabinet on 3rd February 2020 to determine whether to make the PSPO. 

(d) If Cabinet determines to make the PSPO the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and 
Policing Act 2014 (Publication of Public Spaces Protection Orders) Regulations must 
then be complied with which states that the Council must publish a PSPO on its 
website and cause to be erected on or adjacent to the public place to which the order 
relates such notices as it considers sufficient to draw the attention of any member of 
the public using that place to the fact that a PSPO has been made and the effect of 
the PSPO having been made. To allow sufficient time for the PSPO(s) to be 
publicised and for the signage to be put up it is proposed that the PSPO(s) would not 
come into force until the 10th March 2021. 

(e) When in force legislation states that a person has six weeks to challenge a PSPO 
which in this instance is the 21st April 2021.  
 

 

7 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 
 
7.1  Our contribution to the Environmental Wellbeing objectives are as follows: 

 
Environmental damage is minimised by preventing pollution. This objective 
is supported by the reduction dog fouling in the county borough; and 
 
 

Page 21



 
Merthyr Tydfil has good quality biodiverse and connected green 
infrastructure and open spaces. A reduction in dog waste on paths, pavements 
lanes, roads and in the countryside will make people use the open spaces without 
fear of treading on dog waste thereby enhancing the environment. 

 
 
 
CARYS KENNEDY 
HEAD OF LEGAL SERVICES 

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY 
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE, 
PERFORMANCE, BUSINESS CHANGE & 

CORPORATE SERVICE 
 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Consultation 
documentation 

December 2020 Legal department file 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

 

 
 

Page 22



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Fly tipping on Unregistered Land 
Tipio anghyfreithlon ar dir anghofrestredig 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 This report outlines the implications of the removal of fly tipped waste from 

unregistered land. Considerations include setting limitations on the amount of waste 
collected to balance the need to protect the street scene with the cost of disposing of 
the waste (particularly if it is hazardous waste). A budget to meet the disposal costs 
would need to be identified, as well as how the function would be resourced. 

 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1  That the contents of this report be debated. 
 
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 

3.1 The Local Authority do not currently clear waste from unregistered land. As 
unregistered land does not have a registered keeper, the Local Authority are unable 
to write to an owner requesting they remove the waste.  
 

3.2 The Local Authority recognise that measures need to be put in place to allow action 
to be taken on land where it is not possible to obtain land owner details.  
 

3.3 Fly tipping has a negative impact on the environment and as waste on unregistered 
land is currently left in situ, it is not only unsightly but creates the perfect harbourage 
for vermin in certain circumstances. Another issue with fly tipped waste on 

Date Written 14 August 2020 

Report Author Paul Jones/Jemma Price 

Service Area Neighbourhood Services 

Committee Date 18 January 2021 

Page 23

Agenda Item 6



unregistered land is that as no one takes responsibility for the waste it then becomes 
a ‘magnet’ for more fly tipping instances meaning the issue escalates and more 
waste is added. 

 

4.0 WHERE WE WERE  

 
4.1 In February 2015 the Environmental Cleansing and Enforcement Team was set up to 

allow the Local Authority to have a dedicated team to deal with fly tipping. Originally, 
the team only dealt with fly tipping that was on council owned land. This then 
progressed to investigating all incidents of fly tipping, however waste was only 
removed from Council owned land. The Local Authority has a statutory duty to 
ensure its land is kept free from waste. This duty is not inclusive of private or 
unregistered land. 
 

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW  
 

5.1 Recently, by instruction from the Chief Officer after discussion with the Portfolio 
Member, it was decided that the Environmental Cleansing and Enforcement Team 
would write to landowners when fly tipping had been identified on private land 
highlighting that it was their responsibility to remove it.  

 
5.2 Currently there is no policy in place to allow any team within the Local Authority to 

remove waste off unregistered land. Unregistered land is more difficult to take action 
on as there are no details of any land owner to contact to request they remove the 
waste. This means that if the Local Authority decides to put a policy in place to deal 
with unregistered land, any waste that is removed will be the responsibility of the 
Local Authority.  
 

5.3 Any fly tipped material collected by the Local Authority is separated at the HWRC 
and the majority is recycled, contributing to our Welsh Government recovery target. 
All mixed black bag fly-tipped material is sent to energy from waste from which we 
can claim the bottom ash figures which can contribute towards the recycling target.  
 

5.4 The local authority has no control over the type of items that are fly tipped, therefore 
the amount of residual waste we collect could increase which may have detrimental 
financial implications on the Local Authority. Disposal costs would also need to be 
taken into consideration, as removing waste from unregistered land would mean 
more fly tipped waste being collected. In addition if hazardous waste i.e. Asbestos 
needed to be removed this is very costly (however if it was a significant amount this 
should be referred to NRW for removal and should not be removed by the Local 
Authority). 

  
 

5.5 Since April 2020, the Local Authority has been writing to private land owners where 
fly tipped waste has been found. This means that when searches are requested via 
the Estates Department, we also find out when land is unregistered. Since April 2020 
we have had 26 instances of waste deposited on unregistered land reported, where 
no action has been taken to remove the waste as no land owner information is 
available. 
 

Page 24



5.6 It is projected that given the volume of complaints that have already been reported 
since April 2020, the approximate number of fly tipping instances on unregistered 
land ithat would need to be actioned over a one year period would be between 75-
100. These instances would be investigated for information regarding the alleged 
offender and the waste cleared thereafter. Upon investigation, the areas in which fly 
tipping has been reported on unregistered land tend to be large scale fly tipping 
consisting of household waste and builders waste, likely to be from house 
clearances and building works.  

 
 

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE  
 
6.1 The fly tipping team consists of one Environmental Health Officer (EHO), one 

Technical Administrative Assistant, two operatives and one van investigating all 
incidents of fly tipping as well as removing all waste types off Council owned land. In 
order for the Environmental Cleansing and Enforcement Team to clear waste off 
unregistered land, there are two options:- 
 

6.2 i) To employ an additional operative (Grade 3 approx. £26,528), and vehicle 
(£655pm + fuel) to allow us to maintain our KPI level,  
 

ii) To accept that current resources are used, thereby increasing the time taken to 
remove waste from Council land and unregistered land and having a negative effect 
on the Local Authorities KPI, (any staff sickness or holidays would also impact on 
this and delay removal time). 

 
 

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT  
 
7.1 Present a report to Cabinet to amend the existing fly tipping policy to include the 

removal of fly tipping from unregistered land and agree the approach in terms of how 
it will be resourced (staff and disposal costs) and the limits on the amount of fly 
tipping the Local Authority will remove from unregistered land before referring it to 
NRW for removal.  

 
 

 

9.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 

9.1 Environmental enforcement contributes to the Council’s environmental wellbeing 
objective; communities protect, enhance and promote our environment and 
countryside. 

 

 
JUDITH JONES CHIEF OFFICER FOR 
PLANNING AND NEIGHBOURHOOD 
SERVICES 
 

CLLR DAVID HUGHES PORTFOLLIO 
MEMBER FOR PLANNING AND 
NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES 

 
 
 
 

Page 25



 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
 
 
 
 

  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 26



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY REPORT 
 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Forward Work Programme 2020/21  
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1 To provide the Scrutiny Committee with its work programme for consideration and to 
prepare in advance of the next scrutiny committee meeting. 

 
1.2 To remind Scrutiny Committee members that they need to consider the requirements 

of the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 in all aspects of scrutiny 
work. 

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 

2.1 The Committee considers the attached Forward Work Programme and approves, 
revises or amends it as deemed appropriate; and to consider the questions at 3.7 in 
planning for the next meeting.  

 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 

3.1 The attached Forward Work Programme identifies the topics and issues under 
consideration by the Scrutiny Committee and allows an opportunity for additional 
subjects to be identified and included on the programme. 

 
3.2 Scrutiny committees are required to prepare and keep under review a programme for 

their future work. By reviewing and prioritising issues, members are able to ensure 
that the work programme delivers a member-led agenda.  

 
3.3 The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires each Public Service 

Board (PSB) and Council to work with their communities to develop local objectives. 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (MTCBC) and the Cwm Taf PSB have acted 
on this. 

Date Written 08 January 2021 

Report Author Scrutiny Section 

Committee Division Scrutiny  

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 18 January 2021 

Page 27

Agenda Item 7



 
3.4 MTCBC has four local Wellbeing Objectives, each having clear outcomes that will 

help the Council to respond to local community needs and contribute to the seven 
national wellbeing goals. The four Wellbeing Objectives are:- 

 
 

BS Best Start to Life - Children and young people get the best start to life and are 
equipped with the skills they need to be successful learners and confident 
individuals.  
 
The key outcomes for Best Start to Life are: 
 

 Children live in a nurturing and stimulating home environment  

 Children have access to high quality pre-school and school education  

 Improve the educational outcomes for all children and young people  

 Children and young people have good health and wellbeing 
 
 

WL Working Life - People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the 
needs of businesses, with a developing, safe infrastructure, which makes Merthyr 
Tydfil as an attractive destination.  
 
The key outcomes for Working Life are:  
 

 Merthyr Tydfil realises its full economic potential, with a skilled workforce and 
better employment opportunities; 

 People value and enjoy the built and natural environment, protecting and 
enhancing our cultural assets for current and future generations;  

 We have strong, resilient and supportive communities where people take 
responsibility for their own actions and how they affect others.  

 
 

EW Environmental Wellbeing - Communities protect, enhance and promote our 
environment and countryside.  
 
 The key outcomes for Environmental Wellbeing are:  
 

 Environmental damage is minimised by preventing pollution 

 To maximise the amount of materials and resources recycled in line with the 
waste hierarchy; 

 Merthyr Tydfil has good quality, biodiverse and connected green infrastructure 
and open spaces; and 

 The use of renewable and low carbon energy is increased.  
 

LW Living Well - People are empowered to live independently within their 
communities, where they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health.  
 
The key outcomes for Living Well are: 
 

 People live safe and independent lives within their communities; 

 Children and adults are safeguarded from harm and feel safe; and 

 Children and young people live safely with their family or close to home and 
have transitioned well into adulthood. 

 

 

Page 28



3.5 The Scrutiny Committee is encouraged to identify issues that reflect these priorities 
that are within your remit and/or are a priority for local people and communities. If a 
matter is a recurring issue for the people you, as Councillors, represent, the 
likelihood is that it is something that the Committee should consider. The more 
relevant the issue is to local communities then the greater the likelihood of engaging 
those communities in the scrutiny process and of producing outcomes that will be 
visible to those communities you represent. 

 
3.6 MTCBC has developed an ‘Our Shared Vision’ document (Appendix I). This makes 

the connections from the seven national Wellbeing Goals through to the local 
objectives and political priorities. This document is contained within one page and 
acts as an easy to understand guide. When considered with service area strategies 
and operational plans a thread is created that can be extended down to individual 
tasks. This helps staff members see how they are contributing to the Act and the 
‘Wales We Want’, and will assist Scrutiny members better understand the 
connections with the Act. 

 
3.7 The work programme is a dynamic document and is reviewed at every meeting of 

the Committee to ensure that its contents are still relevant and will add value to what 
the Council and partners are doing. At each meeting the committee will agree the 
agenda items for their next meeting and in preparation may in advance wish to ask 
itself the following questions. 
 

Q) Why has the item been placed on a Scrutiny Work Programme? 

a. Does this item/ topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s wellbeing 
objectives? 

b. Does this item/ topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s corporate 
priorities/ objectives? 

c. Is this item/ topic relating to service performance concerns? 
d. Is this item/ topic of significant public interest? 
e. Does the item/ topic have any budgetary implications? 
f. Is this an item/ topic where Scrutiny involvement will make a significant 

difference and achieve tangible outcomes? 
g. Can effective Scrutiny of this issue be delivered from within available 

resources? 
 
Q) What is the specific role of the Committee? 

            This will depend on the item – for example the role could be: 
 

a. to determine if performance levels are acceptable in relation to a particular 
department; 

 b.  to determine if a specific policy is fit for purpose; 
 c.  to satisfy itself that the Authority is working well with its partners in tackling a 

major issue; 
d.  to gather the views of specific stakeholders as part of an on-going scrutiny 

investigation/ review; 
e. to explore possible solutions to an issue. 
 
 

 

Page 29



Q) What outcome is the Committee seeking from the consideration of this 
item? 

a. To comment on the proposed budget and make suggestions to cabinet 
regarding the proposed budget’s ability to deliver the priorities of the council  

b. Identification of any causes for concern and note successes. 
c. To receive an overview presentation. 
d. To gain an understanding of and to comment on a policy/ strategy 
e. To explore ideas around the setting of budgets while considering the 

pressures facing each service. This also helps provide an overview of the 
policy frame work.  

f. For the scrutiny committee to gain an overview and refresh their knowledge of 
the wellbeing objectives/ other plan/ other strategy. 

g. Improvement in service delivery 
 

Q) What information does the Committee need to fulfil this role/ achieve 
this outcome?  

What is the Committee trying to do? You might be trying to do some or all of 
the following i.e. establish facts; gather opinions; or explore new ideas/ 
solutions. 

 

Q) Who should be invited to the meeting to provide the information? 

Depending on the information you need you might want to hear from a range 
of witnesses – e.g. Cabinet members, Senior Officers, Service users, and 
External partners – e.g. Police, Strategic Partners etc 

 

Q) Does the Committee need to ask for written representations? 

The Committee may wish to pose some questions to the Directorate/ Cabinet 
Member/ External Partner etc. prior to the meeting. This may help in instances 
when the Committee is looking for something specific to be addressed. This 
will assist whoever is attending to ensure that they have the information/ 
answer ready for the meeting.  

 

Q) Which meeting format/ venue would be most appropriate for the item 
and for the witnesses that will be invited to attend? 

 Due to the outbreak of the Covid-19 global pandemic, all scrutiny committees 
are to be held via Microsoft Teams at least for the time-being. This decision 
has been taken to ensure the safety of our members, officers and all others in 
attendance. Currently, there is no clear indication of when hybrid meetings will 
be appropriate; and this will be reviewed in line with any updates and advice 
from U.K. and Welsh Government. 

 
Even under normal circumstances, meetings do not have to be held in a 
formal committee room environment. You may wish to hold occasional 
meetings in community location settings e.g. community centres, sports 
facilities etc. It depends on the subject. Some people find the formal setting 
intimidating. Site visits for example may be more appropriate to see first-hand 
what the committee is investigating/ obtaining information on e.g. waste sites, 
regeneration projects etc. 
 
 

Page 30



Q) Method of Scrutiny? 

 Once Members have identified the matters they wish to scrutinise, 
consideration should be given to scoping the subject in more detail including 
the timing and method of scrutiny to be used. Support in this process will be 
given by the Scrutiny and Support Manager and Officer. Members may wish 
to: 

a. Consider an item at a single meeting; 

b. Consider an item over a series of meetings; 

c. Allocate the work to a small working group of Members (Task & Finish group) 
to investigate the issue over a period of 2-3 months (this may involve visits to 
see how services are working in practice); 

d. Undertake an Inquiry Day (or days); 

e. Undertake joint scrutiny with members of another Scrutiny Committee; 

f. Invite expert witnesses to give their views; 

g. Seeking the views of service users/ carers and/ or the general public (public 
calls for evidence) 

 
 
 
Performance and Scrutiny Department 
MTCBC 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Statement of Wellbeing 
& Focus on the Future: 
Wellbeing in our 
Community 

4th April 2018 MTCBC Website 
 
Full Council 4th April 2018  
 
 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 31

http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/g2694/Public%20reports%20pack%2004th-Apr-2018%2017.30%20Full%20Council.pdf?T=10&LLL=0


 
 
 
 

  

APPENDIX I 

Page 32



Neighbourhood Services, Planning and Countryside Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2020/2021 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the Audit Wales (AW) scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area 
and the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

Date / 
Timing 

Overarching Item Officer & Cabinet Member  Scrutiny Focus  
 

Strategic Focus 

28th 
September 

2020 

Forward Work 

Programme 

2020/2021 

 

 Cllr Declan Sammon (Chair)  

 Scrutiny Committee 

Members 

The Committee to discuss the draft Work Programme and to 

officially agree and sign off the Work Programme for 2020-2010. 

 

 Corporate Plan - Focus on 

The Future (FotF)  

 Recovery, Transformation 

and Improvement Plan 

(RT&I) 

Coronavirus Update – 

Response and 

Transition to Recovery 

 

 Chief Officer - Judith Jones  

 Portfolio Member - David 

Hughes  

 Waste Manager - Paul 

Davies 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - The committee has requested a report to 

give an update on how Neighbourhood Services are responding to 

the demands and challenges due to the Coronavirus pandemic. 

This report should also outline the services transition to recovery 

and lessons learned going forward. 

 Recovery, Transformation 

and Improvement Plan 

(RT&I) 

2nd 
November 

2020 
 
 
 
 
 

Environment Act 

(Wales) 2016 - Re: 

Weed Spraying 

 

 

 

 Chief Officer - Judith Jones  

 Portfolio Member - David 

Hughes  

 Street Scene Manager - Rob 

Barnett  

 Street Cleansing and Fly-

tipping Manager - Paul Jones  

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Public authorities must now seek to 

’maintain and enhance biodiversity’ in the course of exercising 

their functions’ (but without prejudice to the proper exercise of 

those functions) and in so doing ‘promote the resilience of 

ecosystems’. Therefore, the committee seeks to develop a clear 

understanding of the Councils policy of weed spraying within the 

County Borough. The report should comprise of two main areas 

and how they impact on the Environmental Act (Wales) 2016, the 

first part should explain Councils the current policy for highway 

weed spraying (i.e. road and street spraying) and the second part 

of the report should focus on and give details on the Japanese 

Knotweed policy (including private land). In addition to this, the 

committee would like further information on what weed spraying 

options can/could be offered to residents.  

 Environment Act (Wales) 

2016 

 Corporate Plan - Focus on 
The Future (FotF)  
 

Fly Tipping 
 
 
 

 Chief Officer - Judith Jones  

 Portfolio Member - David 
Hughes  

 Street Cleansing and Fly-
tipping Manager - Paul Jones 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Fly Tipping 
The fly-tipping theme has been regularly presented to the 
committee in previous years. As this is a contentious topic, the 
scrutiny members would like a report that gives a current update 
on fly-tipping within the borough, which also makes specific 
reference to the following areas:  

 Corporate Plan - Focus on 
The Future (FotF)  

 

P
age 33



Neighbourhood Services, Planning and Countryside Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2020/2021 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the Audit Wales (AW) scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area 
and the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

 review of surveillance cameras 
 overview of Fly-Tipping Policies (private land / Council land) 
 latest figures/data and the affects, if any, of recent HWRC 

closure 
 dog fouling (Public Spaces Protection Orders) 

Forward Work 
Programme 

 Scrutiny Support Officer – 
Sian Lyons-Nicholas 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - To review the items due to be presented 
at this Scrutiny Committee meeting, ensuring a clear brief of the 
Committee’s expectations are available to report authors who will 
be drafting the report. 

 Corporate Plan - Focus on 
The Future (FotF)  

 Recovery, Transformation 
and Improvement Plan 
(RT&I) 

7th 
December 

2020 
 

Meeting  
Cancelled 

Energy Saving / 
Carbon Management 
 
 
 

 Chief Officer - Judith Jones  

 Portfolio Member - David 
Hughes  

 Building and Property 
Services Manager - Chris 
Jones  

 Energy Engineer - Iain 
Goldsworthy 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - A Carbon Management report was 
presented to scrutiny on 11th March 2019 (and updated on 16th 
September 2019), whereby the officers attending stated several 
saving achieved since the employment of the new Carbon 
Management Officer. The scrutiny members have requested an 
update on the savings made to date, and what impact has this 
work had on the carbon footprint of the borough. The report 
should also refer to statutory and other measure reported by the 
team and if the Authority is on track of achieving its targets. 

 Corporate Plan - Focus on 
The Future (FotF)  

 Carbon Management Plan 
 

Community Asset 
Transfer Policy 
 
 

 Chief Officer - Judith Jones  

 Portfolio Member - David 

Hughes  

 Estates Manager – Lisa 

Emmerson 

 

Scrutiny & Challenge: -  
The Council is committed to being sustainable and resilient and 
therefore, the committee has requested a report to be presented 
on the Community Asset Transfer Policy with specific focus on the 
following areas: 
 community engagement; 
 leases to community groups; and  
 promoting biodiversity. 

 

 Recovery, Transformation 
and Improvement Plan 
(RT&I) 
 

Forward Work 
Programme 

 Scrutiny Support Officer – 
Sian Lyons-Nicholas 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - To review the items due to be presented 
at the next Committee meeting, ensuring a clear brief of the 
Committee’s expectations are available to report authors who will 
be drafting the report. 

 Corporate Plan - Focus on 
The Future (FotF)  

 Recovery, Transformation 
and Improvement Plan 
(RT&I) 

P
age 34



Neighbourhood Services, Planning and Countryside Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2020/2021 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the Audit Wales (AW) scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area 
and the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

 

18th 
January 

2021 
 

Overview of Property 
Services information 
report 
 
 

 Chief Officer - Judith Jones  

 Portfolio Member - David 
Hughes  

 Building and Property 
Services Manager - Chris 
Jones 

Scrutiny & Challenge: -  
The committee seeks to develop a clear understanding of the 
Property Services department and requests a report be presented 
to committee giving an overview of the service area. In addition to 
this, the report should include a detailed programme plan of the 
service and identify the key areas for development and 
improvement for 2020/21. 

 Recovery, Transformation 
and Improvement Plan 
(RT&I) 

 Corporate Plan - Focus on 
The Future (FotF)  
 

Fly-tipping Update  Chief Officer - Judith Jones  

 Portfolio Member - David 
Hughes  

 Street Cleansing and Fly-
tipping Manager - Paul Jones 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Scrutiny Members have requested a 
short fly-tipping update report to be presented, which should 
include the Christmas period information. 

 Recovery, Transformation 
and Improvement Plan 
(RT&I) 

 Corporate Plan - Focus on 
The Future (FotF)  

 

Fly-tipping on 
Unregistered Land 

 Chief Officer - Judith Jones  

 Portfolio Member - David 
Hughes  

 Street Cleansing and Fly-
tipping Manager - Paul Jones 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - Scrutiny Members will receive a report 
outlining the implications of the removal of fly tipped waste from 
unregistered land.  
 

 Recovery, Transformation 
and Improvement Plan 
(RT&I) 

 Corporate Plan - Focus on 
The Future (FotF)  

 Wales Towards Zero 
Waste 

Dog Fouling Public 
Space Protection 
Order 

 Senior Solicitor – Simon 
Jones 

Policy Development & Review:  The Committee will receive a 
report containing the key findings of a recent consultation exercise 
in relation to this topic, which links to earlier Committee 
discussions around responsible dog ownership.  Committee 
Members will consider the report to ensure the views and 
feedback of Committee Members is included where the Council is 
required to develop a policy document in relation to addressing 
this issue. 

 Corporate Plan - Focus on 
The Future (FotF)  

 

Forward Work 
Programme 

 Scrutiny Support Officer – 
Sian Lyons-Nicholas 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - To review the items due to be presented 
at the next Committee meeting, ensuring a clear brief of the 
Committee’s expectations are available to report authors who will 
be drafting the report. 
 

 Corporate Plan - Focus on 
The Future (FotF)  

 Recovery, Transformation 
and Improvement Plan 
(RT&I) 

P
age 35



Neighbourhood Services, Planning and Countryside Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2020/2021 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the Audit Wales (AW) scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area 
and the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

Date / 
Timing 

Overarching Item Officer & Cabinet Member  Scrutiny Focus  Strategic Focus 

1st March 
2021 

Nature Recovery 
Action Plan 
 
 
 

 Chief Officer - Judith Jones  

 Portfolio Member - David 
Hughes  

 Ecologist & Countryside 
Officer - Matt Davies 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - The committee received a report regarding 
the Council’s Nature Recovery Action Plan on 13th January 2020. 
The Scrutiny Members have requested a report that provides a 
current position statement on the actions within the plan along 
with any details of issues/barriers experienced and how these have 
been overcome.  
 
In addition to this, the committee would like to receive specific 
information on the grass cutting priority plans. The report is also to 
consider key areas for development and improvement for 
2020/21. 

 Corporate Plan - Focus on 
The Future (FotF)  

 Environment Act (Wales) 

2016 

 

Forward Work 
Programme 

 Scrutiny Support Officer – 
Sian Lyons-Nicholas 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - To review the items due to be presented 
at the next Committee meeting, ensuring a clear brief of the 
Committee’s expectations are available to report authors who will 
be drafting the report. 
 

 Corporate Plan - Focus on 
The Future (FotF)  

 Recovery, Transformation 
and Improvement Plan 
(RT&I)  

12th April 
2021 

Update report on 
Black Bin Charges 
 
 
 

 Chief Officer - Judith Jones  

 Portfolio Member - David 
Hughes  

 Waste Manager  -Paul 
Davies  

 Waste Strategy Team 
Leader -  Stephen Thomas 

 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Council introduced a charging policy of 
£15.00 to replace black bins some time ago. The Committee has 
requested an update report detailing how much money has been 
generated and/or saved by the Council since the introduction of 
this charge for the replacement bin. The report should also include 
specific data such as the number of black bins replaced in 
comparison to previous years. In addition to this, the committee 
wish to be provided with information on where bins are not being 
replaced and what the Council policy is on this matter. 

 Recovery, Transformation 
and Improvement Plan 
(RT&I) 

 Corporate Plan - Focus on 
The Future (FotF)  

 

Improving Recycling 
Rates 
 
 
 
 

 Chief Officer - Judith Jones  

 Portfolio Member - David 
Hughes  

 Waste Manager  -Paul 
Davies  

 Waste Strategy Team 
Leader -  Stephen Thomas 

 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Improving the recycling rates is one of the 
key priorities to Neighbourhood Services.  To ensure that the 
Authority continues to deliver a waste and recycling service that 
meets the needs and aspirations of our residents whilst continuing 
to attain the ever more stringent statutory recycling targets, the 
Committee has requested a report specifically on the areas: 

 Recovery, Transformation 
and Improvement Plan 
(RT&I)  

 Corporate Plan - Focus on 
The Future (FotF) 

P
age 36



Neighbourhood Services, Planning and Countryside Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2020/2021 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the Audit Wales (AW) scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area 
and the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

 
 
 

 details on education and enforcement solutions in order to 
improve the quality of materials and increase participation in 
recycling services. 

 frequency of residual waste collections 
 ‘Keeping Up With The Joneses’ campaign update 
 vehicle breakdowns (e.g. what are the barriers? how much 

does this cost the Authority in comparison to previous years?)  

Self-Evaluation 
Findings: Questions 1, 
2 and 3 
 
 

 Chief Officer - Judith Jones  

 Portfolio Member - David 
Hughes  

 Street Scene Manager - Rob 
Barnett  
 

 

Scrutiny and Challenge:  Made up of 3 key questions the re-
focused self-evaluation process supports Chief Officers and service 
teams to reflect on what they achieved and identify and set 
priorities for improvement.  The Committee will receive the 
service’s response to the second key question which is linked to 
Service Delivery.  They will be required to scrutinise the proforma 
outlining the findings of the process (along with relevant 
supporting evidence); and review the validity of the judgment 
ascribed.   
 

 Recovery, Transformation 
and Improvement Plan 
(RT&I) 

 Corporate Plan - Focus on 
The Future (FotF)  

 

Forward Work 
Programme 

 Scrutiny Support Officer – 
Sian Lyons-Nicholas 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - To review the items due to be presented 
at the next Committee meeting, ensuring a clear brief of the 
Committee’s expectations are available to report authors who will 
be drafting the report. 
 

 Corporate Plan - Focus on 
The Future (FotF)  

 Recovery, Transformation 
and Improvement Plan 
(RT&I) 

 

 
 
 
 
 

   

 
 
 
 
 

   

P
age 37



Neighbourhood Services, Planning and Countryside Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2020/2021 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the Audit Wales (AW) scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area 
and the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

 

Additional Topics for Consideration Strategic Focus 

Responsible Dog 
Ownership 
 
(The scrutiny focus would 
need to be reviewed 
when the PSPO has been 
agreed.)  

 Chief Officer - Judith Jones  

 Street Cleansing and Fly-
tipping Manager - Paul 
Jones 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - This committee has an obligation to ensure the County 
Borough is as clean and safe as possible, therefore the scrutiny members have 
requested a report on ‘Responsible Dog Ownership’. This report should give a 
brief overview on dog fouling and the data/statistics within the County Borough 
(compared to national data supplied by Keep Wales Tidy), also providing 
specific details to answer the following questions: 

 What are the current actions taken with regards to dog fouling, stray dogs, 
animal attacks? 

 What is being done by the department to raise awareness and encourage 
responsible dog ownership in Merthyr Tydfil, to reduce dog fouling, 
prioritise domestic pet welfare, minimise dog attacks on children / adults, 
and safety in outdoor spaces such as parks? 

 Controlling dog fouling under public spaces protection orders was 
introduced by the Anti-Social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014, who 
would enforce a PSPO? 

 Corporate Plan - Focus 
on The Future (FotF)  
 

 
 

   

 
 

   

 
 

   

 
 

P
age 38


	Agenda
	3 Environmental Enforcement across the County Borough
	4 Overview of Property Services
	5 Dog Fouling Public Spaces Protection Order
	6 Fly-tipping on Unregistered Land
	7 Forward Work Programme 2020/21
	Appendix One


